01/17/2025 Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 24-0514

IN THE MATTER OF:

D.L.L. and J.T.L.,

YOUTHS IN NEED OF CARE.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District, Cascade County, the Honorable David J. Grubich, Presiding.

Appearances:

ABBY SHEA Hathaway Law Group 401 Washington Street Missoula, MT 59802 Phone: (406) 201-9660 Abby@hathaway-lawgroup.com

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General KATIE SCHULZ Assistant Attorney General Appellate Services Bureau 215 N. Sanders P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59820-1401

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

E.C.-L. (Mother) appeals the Eighth Judicial District Court's (District Court) Order terminating her parental rights to her children, D.L.L. and J.T.L. (D.C. Doc. 259.¹) (Attached as Appendix A) The Department of Public Health and Human Services (Department) filed a Petition for Emergency Protective Services (EPS), Termination of Parental Rights, and Permanent Legal Custody (PLC) on September 24, 2021. The Petition alleged physical neglect, physical abuse, and psychological abuse of the children by both parents. The children were removed on September 20,

¹ All citations to the D.C. Record are to DN 24-0514 unless otherwise noted

2021, after the Department received a report where Mother alleged that Father had sexually abused the children.

The Petition cited several prior Department involvements with the family dating back to 2016, including allegations of parental substance abuse, neglect, endangerment, and Father's incarceration. The children had been removed three times previously; Mother and Father's most recent case with the Department was dismissed in August 2021. (1/14/22 Hearing Transc. 10:13-16.) The Department originally asserted that, based on its initial and prior Indian Child Welfare Act (ICWA) inquiries, it had no reason to know that D.L.L. and J.T.L. were Indian children. (D.C. Doc. 1.) Due to the aggravated nature of the allegations, specifically the alleged sexual abuse, the Department cited § 41-3-609(1)(d) and (4), MCA, and requested immediate termination of parental rights without a treatment plan or reasonable efforts. (Id.) A Show Cause and Termination Hearing was subsequently set. (D.C. Doc. 12.)

Mother was not present at the Show Cause Hearing held on November 3, 2021, due to her receiving inpatient treatment at the Montana Chemical Dependency Center. (D.C. Doc. 17.) Father stipulated to probable cause and advised the parties of his intention to file a brief regarding placement of the children. (Id.) Mother's attorney advised parties that Mother supported the children returning to Father's care. (Id.) The District Court found probable cause and granted the Department Temporary Investigative Authority (TIA.) (Id.)

On November 8, 2021, Father filed a brief requesting the return of D.L.L. and J.T.L. to his care, arguing that law enforcement had investigated and dismissed the sexual abuse allegations, and that Mother had pled guilty to making and falsifying information regarding the alleged sexual abuse. (D.C. Doc. 21.) Mother subsequently filed a response supporting Father's motion to place the children with him. (D.C. Doc. 25.) The Termination Hearing was reset to March 11, 2022, and a Placement Hearing on Father's Motion was held on January 14, 2022. (D.C. Doc. 28.)

At the January 14, 2022 Placement Hearing the Department opposed Father's motion, citing ongoing concerns regarding both parents. The caseworker testified to the family's history of Department involvement, including the prior removals for substance abuse and domestic violence, and expressed concerns about the condition of the home. (1/14/22 Hearing Transc at 6-32.) Father testified about improvements made to the home and his commitment to ensuring Mother remained out of the home until her treatment was complete. (1/14/22 Hearing Transc at 52:1-16.) Mother also testified that she was committed to following the Department's rules. (1/14/22 Hearing Transc. at 71:7-15.) The District Court denied Father's motion, finding ongoing concerns related to Mother's chemical dependency and the parents' volatile relationship. (Hearing Transcr. 1/14/22 at 91:9-19) The Court ordered increased parenting education and family-based services for Father. (Id.)

Three months after the Placement Hearing, the Department learned D.L.L. and J.T.L. were Indian children under ICWA after they were approved for enrollment with the Little Shell Tribe of Chippewa Indians of Montana (Little Shell Tribe)². (D.C. Doc. 40 & 41.) As a result, the Department moved to vacate the Termination Hearing and filed an Amended Petition for Adjudication as Youths in Need of Care (YINC) and Temporary Legal Custody (TLC) on March 7, 2022. (D.C. Doc. 40.) The Amended Petition recognized the applicability of ICWA and the requirement to provide active efforts toward reunification prior to seeking termination. The Little Shell Tribe was notified and District Court vacated the previously scheduled Termination Hearing and set an Adjudicatory Hearing for March 16, 2022. (D.C. Docs. 43, 48.)

² In December 2019, the Little Shell Tribe received federal recognition, which changed both the enrollment criteria and the applicability of ICWA.

At the May 4, 2022 Adjudication Hearing, Mother stipulated to the Amended Petition without admission of the alleged facts. (D.D. Doc. 59.) Father objected to the State's motion for adjudication and moved for dismissal of the case and requested full custody of the children. (Id.) Father informed the Court that he and Mother were in the process of getting divorced. The State requested Father file a Brief in support of the Motion to Dismiss and asked that they be given time to respond which the District Court granted. (Id.) The District Court's subsequent Order acknowledged the children were Indian children under ICWA, that ICWA applied, the children's placement was in their best interests and continued the Adjudicatory Hearing to June 1, 2022. (D.C. Doc 61.)

At the Continued Adjudication Hearing on June 1, 2022, Mother and Father were present with their respective counsel. (D.C. Doc. 64.) The State advised the Court that the QEW, Anna Fisher, was unavailable for the hearing. (Id.) Father moved again to dismiss the case and grant him full custody of the children, noting that he had filed a brief in support of his motion. (Id.) The State objected to Father's motion and requested fourteen days to respond to his brief. Mother's counsel advised the Court that her client intended to contest adjudication, but did not support Father receiving sole custody. (Id.) Mother further objected to any continuance due to the "stagnant status" of the case. (Id.) The District Court overruled Mother's objection and granted the State and Mother fourteen days to respond to Father's brief. Father was then given seven days to reply to the responses and the Adjudicatory Hearing was reset for June 29, 2022. (Id.)

At the Continued Adjudication Hearing on June 29, 2022, Mother and Father were again present with their counsel. (6/29/22 Hearing Tr. at 4:5-9.) The District Court noted that it had received the State's response to Father's motion to dismiss "yesterday afternoon" and acknowledged that neither Mother nor the State were ready to proceed with Adjudication. (6/29/22 Hearing Transc. at 5:13-25, 6:1-3.) Mother's counsel stated her client supported Father's motion to dismiss. (6/29/22 Hearing Tr. at 8:5-6.) Father's counsel stated he was under the impression the parties had reached a "...tentative agreement with the State for dismissal providing...we agreed to certain conditions in a parenting plan which would be adopted after dismissal..." (6/29/22 Hearing Tr. at 6:16-24.) The parties all requested a short continuance, which the District Court granted, stating it would be appropriate to address the Motion to Dismiss and Adjudication at the next hearing. (6/29/22 Hearing Tr. at 7:1-17.)

At the next hearing on July 6, 2022, both parents were present with counsel. (D.C. Doc. 77.) The State called Child Protection Specialist (CPS),

Christa Waliezer McKay, as their first witness. (7/6/22 Hearing Tr. at 14:3-4) CPS McKay testified that the Department consulted with the Little Shell Tribe and confirmed that the Tribe did not object to the children's current placement. (7/6/22 Hearing Tr. at 15:11-22) She further stated that the Department continued to have safety concerns about both parents. (7/6/22 Hearing Tr. at 17:75-20.)

Regarding Mother specifically, CPS McKay testified that the Department was working with her to address her sobriety and mental health. (7/6/22 Hearing Tr. at 18:15-17, 27:6-14.) CPS McKay reported Mother had been expressing a desire for increased visitation and wishes for the children to participate in Native American cultural activities, but the Department was unwilling to increase her visitation because they had concerns about her sobriety. (7/6/22 Hearing Tr. at 38:8-12, 39:1-8.) Due to time constraints, the District Court adjourned the Adjudication Hearing and continued it to July 22, 2022. (D.C. Doc. 74 & 77.)

At the July 22, 2022, continued Adjudication Hearing the State recalled CPS McKay, who was cross-examined by Mother's attorney. During her cross-examination, Mother's attorney emphasized that the children were indeed ICWA eligible and that the Department had not provided them with placements that met ICWA criteria. Furthermore, the Department had not worked to increase Mother's visits or allow the children to attend powwows despite Mother's continued requests. (7/22/22 Hearing Tr. at 20:11-25, 21:1-35, 22:1-16). Mother also personally testified that she supported the children being placed with Father. (7/22/22 Hearing Tr. 59:7-24.)

A Dispositional Hearing was held on August 10, 2022. The parties discussed the proposed treatment plans and various proposed changes. (8/10/22 Hearing Tr. at 5-9.) Mother objected to language regarding missed or diluted drug tests, however, the Department explained that the language is standard, and the District Court overruled her objection. Mother then once again objected to D.L.L. and J.T.L's placement due to it not being ICWA compliant and requested the children be placed with Father. (8/10/22 Hearing Tr. at 32:1-25.)

Mother's treatment plan was Ordered on August 18, 2022, and required the following tasks: participate in therapeutic family support services, attend regular visits with the children, follow parenting recommendations, attend appointments with the children, complete a chemical dependency evaluation and follow all recommendations, attend counseling, maintain sobriety, complete random drug tests, complete a mental health evaluation and follow all, obtain and maintain a safe home where no unapproved people live with or have contact with the children, and maintain contact with the Department. (D.C. Doc. 87.)

On September 19, 2022, the Department filed a Permanency Plan Report, which stated the Department's proposed Permanency Plan was reunification with parents and an estimated timeline of six months. (D.C. Doc. 89.) The Report also indicated that the Little Shell Tribe was not taking jurisdiction of this case, and it did not have an available family to place the children with. (Id.) The Tribe additionally stated that they would support "what is in the best interest of the youth with priority on their safety and wellbeing." (Id.)

A Status Hearing was held on November 2, 2022, the Department sought approval of their proposed Permanency Plan of reunification and an out-of-state Christmas vacation for the children with their foster parents. (11/2/22 Hearing Tr. at 5:6-13.) The Department offered Father a Christmas visit on December 22, however, he objected to the children going on vacation with the foster family. (11/2/22 Hearing Tr. at 8:9-13.) Mother's counsel noted that Mother had not been offered a reciprocal Christmas visitation opportunity, nor was she aware of any potential vacation plans. (11/2/22 Hearing Tr. at 9:11-22.) When updating the parties on Mother's progress, the Department noted she had relapsed, was in a pre-release program, but was still engaging well with her treatment providers. (11/2/22 Hearing Tr. at 13:13-17.) CPS McKay stated Mother was currently receiving two two-hour visits per week and was working well with providers. (11/2/22 Hearing Tr. at 13:4-7.) The District Court set a follow-up hearing to address the travel request for November 16, 2022. (D.C. Doc. 103.)

At the November 16, 2022 hearing, Mother objected to the children traveling due to safety concerns and lack of information about the people the children would be around. (11/16/22 Hearing Tr. at 8:5-11.) Mother's attorney also stated she was concerned the Department had not been actively exploring all potential ICWA-compliant placement options. (11/16/22 Hearing Tr. at 8:19-25, 9:1-5). In response to concerns over an ICWA compliant placement the Department claimed, "a variety of tribes...are really struggling with finding placements for children in general..." (11/16/22 Hearing Tr. 10:16-22.) Mother's attorney asserted that general contact with Tribes does not meet the active efforts requirement required under ICWA. (11/16/22 Hearing Tr. 11:14-23.) Despite the objections, the District Court ultimately allowed D.L.L. and J.T.L to travel out of state with their placement. (11/16/22 Hearing Tr. at 13:17-25.)

On January 31, 2023, The Department filed a Motion to Extend TLC. (D.C. Doc. 107.) In the Motion, the Department acknowledged that the children's placement did not comply with ICWA preferences and stated they contacted the Little Shell Tribe to see if they could identify any additional family members. (Id.) The District Court Ordered a Hearing on the State's Motion to Extend TLC be held on February 8, 2023. (D.C. Doc. 109.)

At the February 8, 2023 hearing, Mother stipulated to the extension of TLC. (D.C. Doc. 111.) The Department noted that both parents had shown progress, and indicated they were working towards moving supervised visits to the women's shelter where Mother was staying. (2/8/23 Hearing Tr. at 10:14-19.) Parties acknowledged Mother's positive progress and continued engagement with services. (2/8/23 Hearing Tr. at 5:10-23, 6:7-13.) The Department stated the extension of TLC was necessary to give parent's additional time to work their Treatment Plans. (2/8/23 Hearing Tr. at 10:14-18.) The District Court granted the extension of TLC and set two Status Hearings for March 22, 2023, and May 10, 2023, and a Review Hearing for August 2, 2023. (D.C. Doc. 111 & 112.)

At the March 22, 2023 Status Hearing, CPS McKay reported that Mother remained in the women's shelter but was actively seeking housing. (D.C. Doc. 113.) CPS McKay also stated that Mother had maintained sobriety for an extended time and was doing well. Both parents were engaged in co-parenting classes. (Id.)

At the May 10, 2023 Status Hearing Mother reported that she had completed her treatment plan, and expressed concerns that the children remained in a non-Native American, non-kinship foster home where she believed they were losing their heritage. (D.C. Doc. 116.) Mother also reported that her requests to attend the children's soccer games and have the children attend Native American events, like powwows, had been denied by the Department (Id.) Mother also expressed her concern over the fact J.T.L. had reported being hit at the foster home. (Id.) The Guardian ad Litem (GAL) noted the children were enjoying visits with Mother and she had demonstrated great parenting skills. (Id.) The GAL also expressed that the children needed increased exposure to their Native American culture. (Id.) The Court instructed the Department to ensure the children were being exposed to their culture. (Id.)

On July 28, 2023, the Department filed a second Motion to Extend TLC to provide parents with additional time to complete their Treatment Plan. (CITE.) In the supporting Affidavit, CPS McKay stated she had attempted to contact Sarah Crawford at the Little Shell Tribe to find out their position on the Petition to Extend TLC with no success. (D.C. Doc. 131, see Affidavit.) CPS further indicated that her last, and seemingly only contact, with the Little Shell Tribe was when she originally reached out to the Tribe after the children were determined to be Indian Children under ICWA. (Id.)

On August 29, 2023, the Department filed a Permanency Plan Report which stated that its Permanency plan was now adoption. (D.C. Doc. 142.) Unlike the previous Permanency Plan Reports this Report did state that the Department "inquired with the Tribe as to available approved foster homes" and "inquired with the Tribe about appropriate institution which has programs suitable to meet the Indian child's needs." (D.C. Doc. 142, see Affidavit.)

At the September 8, 2023 Hearing, Mother, Father, the Department, and counsel for the Little Shell Tribe were present. (9/8/23 Hearing Tr. at 4:5-13.) Mother's counsel objected to the Department unilaterally enrolling J.T.L in a private Christian school and requested the Department place him back in public school, as requested by Mother and Father, due to their more robust Native American cultural programs. (9/8/23 Hearing Tr. at 7:22-25, 8:1-5.) Mother's attorney argued:

"...this brings us back to the days of the boarding school. It's wholly inappropriate, especially [given] the Court has heard me, time and time again, express concern that these children in non-kinship, nonNative American foster placement have lost and are losing their cultural identity that this family cares about immensely."

(9/8/23 Hearing Tr. at 9:5-12). She stated that the Department's actions violated ICWA and potentially the Montana Indian Child Welfare Act (MICWA). (9/8/23 Hearing Tr. at 17:1-18.) Mother's attorney also stated that the Department's failure to incorporate the parents into the children's extracurricular activities for the last two years was not consistent with active efforts.(9/8/23 Hearing Tr. at 10:6-12.)

Mother's attorney asserted that the Department failed to provide services in a manner consistent with "the prevailing social and cultural conditions and the way of life of the Indian child." (9/8/23 Hearing Tr. at 11:13-19.) Mother's attorney admitted that Mother had recently been arrested for a DUI but objected to the permanency plan of adoption, arguing that Mother had completed her treatment plan and "done everything that she can to make that [the DUI] better and to fix it...she is complying with all of her providers." (9/8/23 Hearing Tr. at 20:6-23, 21:1-5.)

Despite the District Court acknowledging that Mother had shown progress toward reunification, it adopted the permanency plan of adoption but stated "I'm going to tell you that the Department has some work cut out for it here..." (9/8/23 Hearing Tr. at 32:5-8.) The Court scheduled briefing on the school issue and set another Review Hearing. (D.C. Doc. 142.) The District Court filed the Order Approving the Permanency Plan on September 20, 2023. (D.C. Doc. 143.)

On September 27, 2023, Mother filed a Motion to Compel DPHHS to Disenroll Child from Private Christian School and Enroll Child in Public School and a Brief in Support. (D.C. Doc. 146.) Mother's counsel citied ICWA, MICWA, the Indian Education for All Act, Article X, Section 1(2) of the Montana Constitution, and provided a robust historical overview of the boarding school era and subsequent assimilationist government policies to back her arguments. (Id.) She argued that J.T.L.'s placement in a non-Native American foster home, coupled with enrollment in a private Christian school, was not in his best interests, was harming his connection to his Indigenous heritage, and amounted to a modern-day "boarding school," echoing historical injustices. (Id.)

Mother's counsel highlighted the lack of American Indian curriculum at Foothills, noting the stark contrast with the culturally relevant curriculum and programming available in Great Falls Public Schools. (Id.) She asserted the Department was failing to provide active efforts under ICWA and MICWA by prioritizing the foster parents' preferences over the parents' right to direct J.T.L.'s education and involvement in cultural activities, and by denying her repeated and longstanding requests for increased visitation and opportunities for the children to participate in cultural events. Mother stated, "It was not until a few weeks ago when the Department stated their intent to file a petition for termination of parental rights that they finally allowed parents to take the children to a powwow." (Id.)

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