IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 24-0514

IN THE MATTER OF:

D.L.L. and J.T.L.,

Youths in Need of Care.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District Court,
Cascade County, The Honorable David J. Grubich, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
CORI LOSING
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
Cori.losing@mt.gov

JOSHUA A. RACKI
Cascade County Attorney
VALERIE WINFIELD
Deputy County Attorney
121 4th Street North, Suite 2A
Great Falls, MT 59401

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
AND APPELLEE

ABBY SHEA
Hathaway Law Group
401 Washington Street
Missoula, MT 59802

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court did not abuse its discretion when it terminated Mother’s parental rights. On appeal, Mother does not contend the district court erred when it concluded that the Department established beyond a reasonable doubt that she had not successfully completed her court-approved, appropriate treatment plan. Nor does Mother challenge the district court’s conclusion that the Department had proved beyond a reasonable doubt that her conduct or condition rendering her unfit to parent was unlikely to change in a reasonable period of time.

Mother, however, does challenge that the Department did not make active efforts to reunify the family because the Department enrolled J.T.L. in Foothills over Mother’s objection. The totality of the record, however, supports that the Department made ongoing, affirmative efforts aimed at assisting Mother with the completion of her treatment plan tasks so that she could be reunified with her

children. The district court, therefore, did not err when it concluded that the Department made active efforts to provide remedial services and rehabilitative programs designed to prevent the break-up of the Indian family, but that those efforts were unsuccessful.

The district court also did not err when it concluded that good cause existed to deviate from ICWA's preferred placement preferences. After a diligent search and consultation with the Little Shell Tribe and Parents, the Department was unable to locate safe family members to serve as the children's placement. The Department, despite these efforts, was also unable to locate a foster home that was licensed or otherwise approved of by the Little Shell Tribe or any other tribe.

Finally, the district court correctly concluded that termination of Mother's rights served J.T.L.'s and D.L.L.'s best interests. At the time the Department petitioned for termination, J.T.L. and D.L.L. had been in an out-of-home placement for 24 consecutive months. And, by the time of the termination hearing, the children had been placed out of the home for 33 months. The instant Department involvement was the fourth time the Department had intervened in J.T.L.'s life and the third time in D.L.L.'s life. Mother asserting that guardianship, rather than termination, was in the children's best interests does not overcome the presumption that termination was in the children's best interests.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews for abuse of discretion a district court’s decision to terminate a person’s parental rights. *In re Z.N.-M.*, 2023 MT 202, ¶ 10, 413 Mont. 502, 538 P.3d 21. The district court abuses its discretion when it acts “arbitrarily, without conscientious judgment, or in an unreasonable fashion that results in substantial injustice.” *Id.*

This Court reviews a district court’s factual findings to determine if they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* A factual finding is clearly erroneous if it is not supported by substantial evidence, if the court misapprehended the effect of the evidence, or if review of the record convinces the Court a mistake was made. *Id.* This Court reviews for correctness a district court’s conclusions of law. *In re C.B.*, 2019 MT 295, ¶ 13, 398 Mont. 176, 454 P.3d 1195.

ARGUMENT

I. The district court and the Department complied with ICWA.

Mother contends that her “rights” under ICWA were violated when (1) the Department did not make active efforts that adhered to the Little Shell Tribe’s cultural practices and (2) the district court found that there was good cause to deviate from ICWA’s placement preferences. (Appellant’s Br. at 32-33, 38.)

A. The district court did not err when it concluded that the Department made active efforts to reunify Mother with J.T.L. and D.L.L., but those efforts were unsuccessful.

Mother asserts that moving J.T.L. from Great Falls Public Schools, which offered Native American cultural programs, to Foothills “constituted a violation of ICWA’s active efforts requirement, prejudiced J.T.L.’s connection to his tribal heritage, and was contrary to his best interests.” (Appellant’s Br. at 33.)

1. Mother does not have standing to assert that the Department enrolling J.T.L. in Foothills prejudiced his cultural connection and was not in his best interests.

Mother does not have standing to assert that J.T.L.’s best interests have been violated or that he has been prejudiced by the Department’s alleged violation of ICWA. The Montana Constitution precludes a court from resolving “a case brought by a plaintiff who does not show ‘that he has personally been injured or threatened with immediate injury by [an] alleged constitutional or statutory violation.’” *In re T.D.H.*, 2015 MT 244, ¶ 24, 380 Mont. 401, 356 P.3d 457 (quoting *Olson v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 223 Mont. 464, 470, 726 P.2d 1162, 1166 (1986)). And “a litigant may assert only his own constitutional rights.” *T.D.H.*, ¶ 24.

Because Mother cannot assert J.T.L.’s rights, this Court should decline to review Mother’s appellate claim that the Department’s alleged violation of ICWA’s active efforts requirement when they enrolled J.T.L. in Foothills prejudiced his connection to his culture and was not in his best interests. However,

even if Mother could assert a claim on behalf of J.T.L., Mother cannot establish that J.T.L.'s connection to his culture was prejudiced or that enrollment at Foothills was not in J.T.L.'s best interests.

Despite Mother's unsupported assertion that the foster parents were the reason that the Department enrolled J.T.L. in Foothills, J.T.L., himself, asked to attend Foothills because he wanted to be with his friends from his soccer team and other extracurricular activities. Even if J.T.L. met these friends who attended Foothills because of his foster parents, that does not equate to the foster parents demanding that J.T.L. attend Foothills. Moreover, the purpose of enrolling J.T.L. in Foothills was not to deprive him of his Native American culture but, rather, to support J.T.L.'s needs. The Longfellow principal believed that J.T.L. would do better in smaller classroom sizes, which, to the principal, made Foothills a great fit for J.T.L. J.T.L. also reportedly was being bullied at Longfellow. J.T.L. several times expressed that he liked attending Foothills and had made noticeably positive behavioral changes since his enrollment. Finally, by the time of the school hearing in March 2024, J.T.L. had told his counsel and guardian ad litem that he wanted to stay at Foothills.

Moreover, McKay had contacted multiple resources, including the Little Shell Tribe, to identify other programs that J.T.L. could participate in to continue to support his connection with the Little Shell Tribe. McKay also confirmed that

Foothills has a Native American curriculum. In other words, McKay ensured J.T.L.'s needs were being met while providing additional support to ensure that J.T.L. would not lose his connection to the Little Shell Tribe's culture.

2. The Department's decision to enroll J.T.L. in Foothills does not constitute a violation of ICWA's active efforts requirement.

Mother asserts that the Department violated ICWA's active efforts requirement when it enrolled J.T.L. in Foothills over Mother's objection. (Appellant's Br. at 33.) When seeking foster care placement of, or the termination of parental rights to, an Indian child, ICWA requires the State to prove to the district court that the Department has made active efforts "to provide remedial services and rehabilitative programs designed to prevent the breakup of the Indian family and that these efforts have proved unsuccessful." 25 U.S.C. § 1912(d).

Active efforts refers to "affirmative, active, thorough, and timely efforts intended primarily to maintain or reunite an Indian child with" the child's family. 25 CFR § 23.2. The Department must make active efforts that assist the parent(s) or Indian custodian "through the steps of a case plan and with accessing or developing the resources necessary to satisfy the case plan." 25 CFR § 23.2; Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-1319(3). "To the maximum extent possible, active efforts should be provided in a manner consistent with the prevailing social and cultural conditions and way of life of the Indian child's Tribe and should be conducted in

partnership with the Indian child and the Indian child's parents, extended family members, Indian custodians, and Tribe." 25 CFR § 23.2; Mont. Code Ann.

§ 41-3-1319(4)(a). Active efforts must be tailored to the specific facts and circumstances of each individual case. *Id.* Examples of active efforts may include, but are not limited to, the following:

- (1) Conducting a comprehensive assessment of the circumstances of the Indian child's family, with a focus on safe reunification as the most desirable goal;
- (2) Identifying appropriate services and helping the parents to overcome barriers, including actively assisting the parents in obtaining such services;
- (3) Identifying, notifying, and inviting representatives of the Indian child's Tribe to participate in providing support and services to the Indian child's family and in family team meetings, permanency planning, and resolution of placement issues;
- (4) Conducting or causing to be conducted a diligent search for the Indian child's extended family members, and contacting and consulting with extended family members to provide family structure and support for the Indian child and the Indian child's parents;
- (5) Offering and employing all available and culturally appropriate family preservation strategies and facilitating the use of remedial and rehabilitative services provided by the child's Tribe;
- (6) Taking steps to keep siblings together whenever possible;
- (7) Supporting regular visits with parents or Indian custodians in the most natural setting possible as well as trial home visits of the Indian child during any period of removal, consistent with the need to ensure the health, safety, and welfare of the child;

(8) Identifying community resources including housing, financial, transportation, mental health, substance abuse, and peer support services and actively assisting the Indian child's parents or, when appropriate, the child's family, in utilizing and accessing those resources;

(9) Monitoring progress and participation in services;

(10) Considering alternative ways to address the needs of the Indian child's parents and, where appropriate, the family, if the optimum services do not exist or are not available;

(11) Providing post-reunification services and monitoring.

25 CFS § 23.2; Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-1319(4)(a).

Mother's contention that McKay did not make active efforts consistent with the Little Shell Tribe's prevailing social and cultural conditions and way of life is not supported by the record. At a minimum, McKay communicated with the Little Shell Tribe once a month. In those conversations, McKay routinely inquired into how the children's cultural connection could best be supported and whether the Little Shell Tribe had any programs available for the children to participate in. McKay always encouraged Mother to discuss the Little Shell Tribe's culture or share items of cultural significance with the children, such as the dreamcatchers that hung above their beds at the foster placement. (3/28/24 Tr. at 53, 55; TPR Tr. at 221.) In early October 2024, McKay also approved Mother's attending a powwow with the children after it was confirmed that safety resources would be in place. (TPR Tr. at 224.)

When concerns arose that J.T.L. was being bullied in school and wished to go to Foothills to be with his friends who attended school there, McKay approached Mother about this opportunity at least twice. McKay also discussed J.T.L. transitioning to private school with the Little Shell Tribe, which, at that time, reported it could not take a position because it had yet to create a policy on that subject. McKay then reached out to the State's ICWA specialist, who stated that if the transitioning school would best support J.T.L.'s needs, then that was the most important factor to consider.

McKay reached out to Foothills, which confirmed that they offered a Native American curriculum. Although the district court correctly observed that Foothills' Native American curriculum was not nearly as robust as the Indigenous Education Program offered through Great Falls Public Schools, that did not negate that Foothills did have a curriculum that would support J.T.L.'s connection to his culture. (*See* 3/28/24 Tr. at 115.) Finally, McKay confirmed with the Indigenous Education Program that J.T.L. would be able to participate in other events that were held after school.

Notably, Mother offers no correlation between J.T.L. attending Foothills and her failure to complete her treatment plan. Nor does Mother argue that J.T.L.'s schooling prevented her from demonstrating her conduct or condition rendering her unfit to parent would change in a reasonable period of time. Moreover, Mother

has not challenged on appeal the district court's conclusions that the Department established beyond a reasonable doubt that she did not successfully complete her treatment plan, her conduct or condition rendering her unfit to parent was unlikely to change in a reasonable period of time, and that continuation of the parent-child relationship would likely result in ongoing abuse and neglect. Indeed, Mother, before the district court and on appeal, does not argue that J.T.L. and D.L.L. should be reunified with her, but instead argues that guardianship, rather than termination, are in J.T.L.'s best interests.

However, even if this Court finds that the Department's decision to enroll J.T.L. at Foothills was contrary to mandated active efforts, that conclusion, by itself, does not nullify the other significant active efforts made throughout this case. Active efforts must be tailored to the factual circumstances of each case. 25 CFR § 23.2. As such, just like reasonable efforts, active efforts must be based on the totality of the circumstances and are "not static or determined in a vacuum." *In re C.M.G.*, 2020 MT 15, ¶ 17, 398 Mont. 369, 456 P.3d 1017.

At the beginning of the case, McKay referred Mother for a chemical dependency evaluation. Because the evaluation referred Mother for inpatient treatment, McKay arranged for Mother to go to MCDC. Mother returned after a few days. McKay referred Mother for mental health treatment, chaperone training, and parenting classes. McKay also arranged for visits to occur between Mother and

the children. McKay arranged for weekly meetings between her and Mother and also monthly FEMs. McKay provided bus passes and arranged for transportation to visits, activities, and treatment.

McKay helped Mother with her housing appeal so that she could be on a waitlist for housing after she had been denied. McKay worked diligently to have C. accepted into a program or home so that he would not be a barrier to J.T.L. and D.L.L. returning home. McKay also devised a backup plan in the event C. was not accepted into a program or other group home, and arranged for gradual therapy sessions with C., D.L.L. and J.T.L. so that C. could be in the home once D.L.L. and J.T.L. were reunited with Mother. For example, McKay referred J.T.L. to therapy. (*See* Doc. 220 at 2.) McKay referred D.L.L. to occupational therapy and therapy. (*See id.* at 4.) McKay continually was in contact with the children's and Mother's providers so that they were aware of the progress made by Mother and the needs of Mother and the children.

Notably, when Mother relapsed in August 2023, McKay referred Mother for a chemical dependency evaluation so that she could attend treatment. McKay regularly arranged for Mother to go to MCDC, including reaching out to MCDC to determine when they had a bed available, which often required last minute changes due to Mother deciding not to go, and arranging for transportation.

When the record is reviewed in total, the district court did not err when it concluded that the Department had made active efforts aimed at reunifying Mother with J.T.L. and D.L.L., but that those efforts were ultimately unsuccessful. Mother's contention that the Department violated ICWA's active efforts requirement by enrolling J.T.L. at Foothills over Mother's wishes, even if true, does not undermine the plentiful other active efforts that the Department made. Nor does it negate the substantial evidence that, despite all of McKay's efforts, Mother's conduct or condition rendering her unfit was unlikely to change in a reasonable time, in part, because Mother was unable to successfully complete her treatment plan.

B. The district court did not err when it concluded that good cause existed to depart from ICWA's placement preferences.

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